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The area is characterized by moderate-sized, 1 1/2 to 2 1/2 story, wood-frame
houses designed in a variety of popular period styles. They date from the
1860s to the 1920s. Well-detailed suburban examples of the Italianate, Second
Empire, Queen Anne, Shingle, Colonial Revival and Craftsman styles are
present; some are locally outstanding and five have been recognized by
individual listing in the National Register (1984). Unfortunately, the three
mansion houses which originally gave the area its name have been demolished or
so heavily altered as to preclude inclusion in the district.

The condition of buildings within the district varies greatly. Many are in
excellent condition, preserving their original qualities of design and
detail. Some have undergone changes in fenestration or the application of
artificial siding, which are typical alterations throughout the community. A
small number suffer from neglect, and some are partially hidden by overgrown
vegetation.

The houses generally maintain a consistent fifteen- to twenty-five-foot
setback along with similiar spacing from their neighbors helping to unify the
streetscape, and bring order to the profusion of architectural styles. This
type of siting is typical of early 20th century suburbs which, architectural
historian Alan Gowans has said, "...required a correspondingly new concept of
the house, as a dwelling intended to sit in its own plot of ground, like the
rural houses of earlier America yet also related to other houses on a street,
like older urban row houses.” (Comfortable House; p. 29)

This characteristic suburban visage was achieved gradually during the period
of significance as is illustrated by a series of historic maps and
photographs. Until the mid-19th century, the west side of Main Street,
including this area, was almost entirely vacant, while the more level terrain
of the east side had begun to develop with workers' housing. As late as 1858,
a mere two houses stood in the area: one owned by surveyor Amasa Farrier on
the north side of Maple Street, and another owned by industrialist John Hill
to the south.

Hill's large estate, which occupied the entire block south of Maple Street and
consisted of a Mansard-style mansion house surrounded by winding drives,
formal plantings, and outbuildings, set the initial tone for the area. It was
followed by the H. H. Mawhinney estate on the northwest corner of Maple and
Chestnut Streets ca. 1860, and the C. W. Tidd estate occupying the interior of
the Cedar Avenue block ca. 1880,

The elite character of the area was never fully established, however. By the
time the Tidd estate was constructed, approximately a dozen houses, designed
in more modest versions of the Italianate and Mansard styles, stood on the
east side of Chestnut Street and on the upper portion of Cedar Avenue. During
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the next ten years, several fine examples of the Queen Anne style appeared.
Additional development in the 1890s and first two decades of the 20th century
added compatible examples of the Shingle, Colonial Revival, and Craftsman
styles to the district.

The character of the district remained stable until the mid-20th century, when
the Mawhinney and Tidd estates were demolished. The former was replaced by a
brick church and parking lot while the latter was replaced by a cluster of
ranch houses. The pair at 2 and 4 Cedar Avenue are incongruously fronted by
the granite retaining walls and gates of their predecessor. Ranch houses were
also built on the undeveloped lots at the west end of Cedar Avenue. These
mid-20th century dwellings account for the intrusions within the district and
also provided a rationale for boundaries. Several of the houses are
accompanied by freestanding garages which are not considered to contribute to
the historical or architectural significance of the area.

The character of the district is largely defined by a dozen residences of
outstanding quality, these continue to reflect the picturesque ideals of the
later 19th century. They vary in date and style and are dispersed throughout
the district. Providing a contextual backdrop to these major buildings are
simpler or less well-preserved buildings of the same period and of the early
20th century. All combine to illustrate Stoneham's residential growth through
the end of the Suburban Period as defined by the Multiple Resource Area
overview.

Representative dwellings are described below in chronological order:

Several examples of the Italianate style appear in the district, illustrating
many of the varied forms assumed by that picturesque style. The earliest is
35 Chestnut Street (ca. 1860; #97). It is a simple 2 1/2-story dwelling whose
symmetrical five-bay facade is centered on an entry with sidelights and
lintel. Windows contain 2/2 sash. The house is clapboard-clad and rests on a
brick foundation. Map research for this house is inconclusive. A structure
owned by Amasa Farrier is shown at this approximate location in 1858, but the
site is vacant in 1874. By the 1880s, a house reappeared as part of the C. W.
Tidd Estate. Stylistic evidence supports a construction date in the 1850s or
1860s.

Three similiar dwellings, the Seth D. Allen, Jacob Kidder, and Perez C. Jomnes
Houses, stand adjacent to each other at 9, 11, and 13 Cedar Avenue (#s 79, 78,
77). Dating from ca. 1870, all are 2 1/2 stories and display the gable-end
facade with sidehall plan that was so popular in the mid-eighteenth century.
The Jones House is shingle-clad with decorative fishtail shingles in the gable
field., The facade features an entry with bracketed hood and a two—story

polygonal bay. Paired brackets appear at the cornice. Windows contain 2/2

(continued)
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sash. The house rests on a brick foundation. The Kidder House, which is now
sheathed with asbestos shingle, eschews the typical bracketed cornice and
retains the gable returns of the earlier Greek Revival style.

The Richard Wall House, 8 Cedar Avenue (ca. 1878 #86) is similiar to these
houses, but somewhat more abundant in its detail. It is- a 2 1/2-story
sidehall-plan house with a substantial two-story rear ell. It is now sheathed
with asbestos, but its other elements remain intact. Windows contain 2/2
sash, and the distinctive fenestration of the facade includes paired
round-arched windows in the gable and full-length windows at the first story.
The house is trimmed with paneled cornerboards carrying paired incised
brackets. The brackets are repeated in the porch, which runs across the
facade. :

By far the most elaborate example of the style 1s the C. N. Wood House, 30
Chestnut Street (ca. 1878; #143; NR 1984), which is individually listed in the
National Register. This full 2 1/2-story house is asymmetrically massed with
a tower rising adjacent to a projecting gabled pavilion. The tower contains a
double-leaf entry with a bracketed hood surmounted by a paired window;
triple-arched windows occupy the tower stage. Elsewhere, windows are often
paired or arched as well. Paired brackets trim the cornice of the slate gable
roof. ’

The district also includes two examples of the Mansard style, both of which
are 1 1/2-story sidehall cottages. One is locally exceptional, and has been
recognized by individual National Register listing. The Lorenzo D. Hawkins
House, 1 Cedar Avenue (ca. 1870; #112; NR 1984) is a clapboard-clad structure
that rises from a granite foundation to a scalloped slate roof. Major
features include an entry with glazed and paneled door and bracketed porch,
bay windows and dormers with arched glazing, and a heavily bracketed cornice.
It is accompanied by a matching carriage house.

The John C. Paige House, 34 Chestnut Street (ca. 1870; #144) is simpler in
execution and has been altered by aluminum siding. Its most prominent
features are a bellcast mansard roof with round-arched wall dormers, and a
verandah with balustrade and spindle valance embracing the facade and south
elevation.

During the 1880s and 1890s, several fine examples of the Queen Anne style,
some displaying Stick Style features, were added to the district. Three have
been distinguished by individual National Register listing. One of the
earliest and most unusual is 7 Cedar Avenue (ca. 1880; #81), which appears to
have been built as part of the Hawkins estate. It is a 2 1/2-story house with
picturesque massing including asymmetrically placed wings and a
pyramidal-capped tower. Windows contain 2/2 sash and are headed by sloping
lintels.

(continued)
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Another relatively early Queen Anne-style dwelling is the Charles H. Libby
House, 37 Maple Street (1883; #103). Built on a T-plan, it rises 2 1/2
stories to a gable roof and faces its gable end to the street. It is
clapboard—-clad, but also displays fishtail shingles in the gable and a valance
of vertical boards. Brackets and exposed rafters appear at the roofline.
Windows generally contain 2/2 sash, but multiple-pane sash appears in the
gable. The entry is framed by sidelights and retains its glazed and paneled
door. A well-detailed porch running across the facade features turned posts,
as well as brackets with an unusual incised design that is repeated in the
balustrade, The James B. Hawkins House, 35 Maple Street (ca. 1885, #104), is
similiar but was shingled in the 1920s.

The James P. Fairchild House, 41 Maple Street (ca. 1890; #101), and the Harry
Hill House, 3 Cedar Avenue (ca. 1890; #83) are identical and well-preserved
examples of the Queen Anne style. Both are rectangular in plan and rise 2 1/2
stories to steep hip roofs. The complex silhouette that is so characteristic
of the Queen Anne style is achieved through use of a massive facade gable.
This dominant element is supported on curved, shingled brackets, and displays
a stylized Palladian window. Other features include polygonal bays and a
verandah with balustrade and turned posts headed by unusual sunburst motif
brackets. A somewhat similiar example is the Henry C. Carbee House, 39 Maple
Street (ca. 1890s; #102), with its off-center facade gable and verandah with
turned posts and incised brackets.

The three Queen Anne-style houses that are individually listed in the National
Register are the Sidney A. Hill House, 31 Chestnut Street (ca. 1895; #109, NR
1984), the Newton Lamson House, 33 Chestnut Street (ca. 1887; #108, NR 1984)
and the Franklin Jenkins House, 35 Chestnut Street (ca. 1895; #107; NR 329).
The first two display Stick Style elements such as valances, while the latter
reflects the Shingle Style.

Another example of the Shingle Style is the Benjamin S. Hinds House, 29 Cedar
Avenue (ca. 1895; #69). Standing at the west end of the district, this fine
house 1s entirely shingle-clad, with a fieldstone chimney on the south
elevation. It rises 2 1/2 stories to a gambrel roof, which slopes down on the
south side of the facade to form a porch with Tuscan columns. Other features
include a paneled entry framed by leaded-glass sidelights, diamond-pane sash,
and a Palladian window in the north gambrel.

The Colonial Revival style is represented by a small number of simply executed
dwellings. The Henry Smith House, 26 Chestnut Street (ca. 1895; #141) is a 2
1/2-story, shingled, hip-roof structure with a solid foursquare form. The

ma jor reference to the Colonial Revival style is provided by the Tuscan porch,
with a pediment highlighting the entry location, which extends across the
facade and.around the south elevation. The polygonal bay at the northwest
corner harks back to the Queen Anne style.

(continued)
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The gambrel roof cottage at 45 Maple Street (ca. 1915; #99) is an unusually
well-detailed example of the Dutch Colonial style that was just coming into
vogue. Typical features are the gambrel roof with three-bay shed dormer and
the symmetrical facade with center entry flanked by paired windows. 1In this
case, the entry is framed by sidelights and the windows contain 6/6 sash. An
unusual feature is the Tuscan porch that extends across the west elevation,

(continued)
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ARCHAEOLOGiCAL DESCRIPTION

While no prehistoric sites are currently recorded in the district or in
the general area (within one mile) it is possible that sites are present. The
physical characteristics of the district, high, well drained, hilly terraces,
portions of which are within 1000 feet of Sweetwater Brook, a tributary of the
Aber jona River indicate marginally favorable conditlon for native subsistence
and settlement activities. Given these facts, the size of the district (7.69
acres) and-late 19th century development in the area, a low to moderate
potential exists that prehistoric sites are present.

No evidence exists for historic use of the district prior to its
residential development during the late 19th and early 20th century. The
entire locale on the west side of Main Street was reported undeveloped until
the mid 19th century. Structural remains of outbuildings (barns, carriage
houses) and trash deposits may be present associated with residences in the
district. In general, however, the potential for significant historic
archaeological remains is low.

(end)
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John Hill was the town's wealthiest citizen. He also owned the town's largest
factory, which was located on Main Street a few blocks east of the district.
His estate reflected the ideals of his class. It occupied the entire block
now bounded by Maple, Chestnut, Hancock, and Park Streets, and was
characterized by winding, tree-lined drives, specimen trees and low-massed
border plantings, all set off by stone walls and trees around the perimeter,
The house itself was a magnificent 2 1/2-story, clapboard-clad structure
displaying an offset Italianate-style tower and very early mansard roof
enclosing the main mass. It was accompanied by a carriage house with mansard
roof and cupola as well as several other outbuildings. Sadly, the estate was
subdivided in the 20th century and the house has been radically altered for
multi-family use.

H. H. Mawhinney, another shoe manufacturer, constructed an estate of similar
scale and pretention in 1868; it was valued at the enormous sum of $12,000.
Charles H. Brown, vice-president of the Tidd Tannery and son-in-law of William
Tidd, moved there in the 1880s from a more modest dwelling just north of
Central Square (see Central Square Historic District). Located on the
northeast corner of Chestnut and Maple Streets, this Second Empire-style
estate was demolished in the mid-20th century, and is now the site of the
Seventh Day Adventist Church.

At about the time that Mawhinney was building his estate, the future direction
of the area was being established by Amasa Farrier, the town surveyor. Like
many rural surveyors of the period, Farrier was conversant with contemporary
fashions in landscape design. His knowledge probably came through the
publications of English horticulturist John Claudius Loudon and American
landscape gardener Andrew Jackson Downing. Farrier is known to have designed
the William Street Cemetery of 1844 (NR 1984), Lindenwood Cemetery of 1861,
and Wildwood Cemetery of 1852 in neighboring Winchester (NR 1984), as well as
several subdivisions and private estates. He lived just north of Central
Square (see Central Square Historie District).

The Gerry map of 1858 indicates that Farrier owned a house on the northwest
corner of Maple and Chestnut Streets. By 1875, that house was apparently
gone, Cedar Avenue and Poplar Street were in place, and Farrier had subdivided
the land flanking Poplar Street and the north side of Maple Street into tiny
house lots. Farrier's scheme did not prosper, probably because the lots were
too small, but it did signal a shift in character from large estates to more
modest suburban dwellings.

Although Farrier's lots remained vacant, a number of other suburban houses had
been erected on Cedar Avenue and Chestnut Street by that time. Some of the
earliest houses of this type in the district are the three adjacent dwellings
at 9, 11, and 13 Cedar Avenue (#s 79, 78, and 77). All date from ca. 1870,

(continued)
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and are simply detailed 2 1/2-story wood-frame structures that face gable end
to the street. Their owners were typical of area residents at the time.
Perez C. Jones was a shoe pegger, Jacob Kidder was a cabinetmaker, and Seth
Allen was a foreman at R. W. Emerson & Co. The house of William D. Rice, a
carpenter, stands across the street at 12 Cedar Avenue (#87).

Two other dwellings, both 1 1/2 story Mansard cottages, date from this early
period in the district's development as well., These are the well-detailed
Lorenzo D. Hawkins House (#112) at the corner of Maple Street and Cedar
Avenue, and the J. C. Paige House (#144) on Maple Street. Hawkins was a
small-scale manufacturer of machinery and shoes, with offices at 96 High
Street in Boston, making him the area's first commuter. His house is,
interestingly, a scaled-down version of the Hill and Mawhinney estates with a
large lot and accompanying carriage house. The simplicity of the Paige House
reflected his less elevated standing as an inventor noted for the design of a
steam boiler.

The last of the grand estate-type houses was erected ca. 1880 by C. W. Tidd, a
member of the Tidd Tannery family and president of the Stoneham National

Bank. No longer extant, this house and carriage house occupied much of the
area between Cedar Avenue and Poplar Street. The lot was subdivided in the
mid-20th century and is now occupied by several ranch houses. The two on
Cedar Avenue are incongruously fronted by the granite retaining wall and
gateposts of the former estate.

The number of houses in the district rose sharply in the last decades of the
19th century as well-detailed examples of the Queen Anne, Shingle, Stick, and
Colonial Revival styles were erected by professionals and proprietors of small
businesses. Sidney Hill, partner in the shoe manufacturing concern of Sidney
& Hill, built a Queen Anne house at 31 Chestnut Street (ca. 1887, #109); while
Franklin Jenkins, a partner in another shoe firm known as Vinton & Jenkins,
built a Shingle Style house next door at 37 Chestnut Street (ca. 1895; #107).
Charles Drew, vice-president of the Stoneham National Bank, built a Queen Anne
house at 31 Maple Street (#106); while his cashier Charles Bailey purchased
the nearby residence at 35 Maple Street (#194). Both of these men worked for
their neighbor, C. W. Tidd.

During this period, existing houses were often sold to more prosperous owners,
or the original owners improved their circumstances. For example, the Paige
House was sold to Richard Barnstead, editor and proprietor of the Stoneham
News; William Rice progressed from carpenter to builder; and Perez Jones rose
to be president of the American Co-operative Boot & Shoe Co.

Notably, several new residents joined L. D. Hawkins in the commute to
employment in Boston. Henry Smith, an insurance and real estate agent with

(continued)
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offices on State Street, built the Colonial Revival house at 26 Chestnut
Street (#141) ca. 1895. The older Queen Anne house next door at 28 Chestnut
Street (#142), was purchased by J. Edwin Hill, a Boston-based shoe dealer.
Oliver Richardson, a Congress Street accountant, purchased the house at 43
Maple Street (#100); while James P. Fairchild, a traveling salesman based in
Boston, moved in next door at 41 Maple Street (#101). Benjamin Hinds, a
submaster at Boston's Eliot School, built the fine Shingle Style house at 29
Cedar Avenue (#69) ca. 1890, '

Rounding out Stoneham's residential development during the Suburban Period,
several more houses were added to the district in the first decades of the
twentieth century. These are simple but well-detailed examples of the »
Craftsman, Colonial Revival, and Dutch Colonial styles. Ownership remained
solidly middle class. As late as 1906, the Hill estate remained intact under
the ownership of Dr. Arthur Cowdrey, who maintained offices there and in
Central Square (see Central Square Historic District).

Residential development throughout the town during the 1880s and 1890s spurred
public investment and improvements. These included a public water system in
1882, electric streetlights in 1890, and the first telephone exchange in

1905. Transportation was improved with the paving of numerous public streets
and sidewalks, and by the introduction of streetcar service in the 1890s. The
Stoneham Town Improvement Association was formed in 1897, Additionally,
several major architect-designed public buildings were constructed in the
early years of the 20th century. These included the William Street High
School of 1901, the Stoneham Public Library of 1903 (NR 1984) and the Central
Street Fire Station of 1916 (NR 1984).

As noted in the overview for the Stoneham Multiple Resource Area, the strong
residential growth anticipated in the late 19th century never materialized,
for numerous reasons.

Thus Stoneham does not have the large, fashionable, turn-of-the-—century
enclaves that characterize neighboring Melrose Highlands and Winchester.
Although Stoneham's Nobility Hill lacks the impressive size of such
neighborhoods in other Boston-area communities, it is locally unusual as a
cohesive grouping of suburban residences that display a remarkable diversity
and quality of design.

(end)
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Previously Listed on the National Register of Historic Places

Lorenzo D. Hawkins House, 1 Cedar Avenue, 1984;

C. N. Wood House, 30 Chestnut Street, 1984;

Sidney A. Hill House, 31 Chestnut Street, 1984;
Newton Lamson House, 33 Chestaut Street, 1984;
Franklin B. Jenkins House, 37 Chestnut Street, 1984,



Nobility Hill Historic District
Stoneham, Massachusetts
District Data Sheet

MAP# ACREAGE ADDRESS HISTORIC NAME DATE STYLE INV# NR/C/NC
118-112 20,160 1 Cedar Ave. Lorenzo D. Hawkins cl870 Mansard cottage 330 NR/C
118-84 16,224 2 Cedar Ave. n/a/Wall/Gate cl950s Ranch n/a Nc/c/c
118-83 7,489 3 Cedar Ave. Harry Hill c1885 Queen Anne 331 C
118-85 18,272 4 Cedar Ave. n/a ¢1950s Ranch n/a NC
118-82 5,010 5 Cedar Ave. D. Gilmore/garage c1878 Italianate n/a C/nc
118-81 12,000 7 Cedar Ave. L. D. Hawkins/garage ¢1880s Stick St}le 332 C/nc
118-86 13,167 8 Cedar Ave. Richard Wall/garage cl878 Italianate n/a C/ne
118-79 10,890 9 Cedar Ave. Seth D. Allen/garage c1870 Italianate n/a C/nc
118-78 10,890 11 Cedar Ave. Jacob Kidder/garage cl870 Italianate n/a C/nc
118-87 18,018 12 Cedar Ave. William D. Rice 1870 Italianate 333 C
118~77 10,890 13 Cedar Ave. Perez C. Jones/garage ¢187O Italianate n/a C/nc
118-69 9,280 29 Cedar Ave. Benjamin S. Hinds c13890 Shingle Style 334 C
118-68 8,752 31 Cedar Ave. unknown 1920 Colonial Revival/alt. n/a NC
118-98 6,560 32 Cedar Ave. unknown 1920 Colonial Revival n/a C
118-67 13,552 33 Cedar Ave. S. K. Harrision c1890 Queen Anne n/a C
118-141 7,915 26 Chestnut St. Henry Smith c1895 Colonial Revival 323 C
118-111 8,550 27 Chestnut St. n/a c1950s Ranch n/a NC



Nobility Hill Historic District, continued
Stoneham, Massachusetts

MAP# ACREAGE ADDRESS HISTOIRC NAME DATE STYLE INVE NR/C/NC
118-142 7,915 28 Chestnut St. McKellup c1885 Queen Anne n/a C
118-110 7,000 29 Chestnut St. n/a ¢1950s Ranch n/a NC
118-143 13;197 30 Chestnut St. C. N. Wood - ¢1878 Italianate 322 NR/C
118-109 7,260 31 Chestnut St. Sidney A. Hill/garage c1887 Queen Anne 327 NR/C/nc
118-108 7,260 33 Chestnut St. Newton Lamson/garage c1887 Queen Anne 328 NR/C/nc
118-144 10,890 34 Chestnut St. John C. Paige/garage c1870 Mansard cottage 321 C/nc
118-97 9,691 35 Chestnut St. Amasa Farrier/garage cl1860s Italianate n/a C/nc
118-107 5,500 37 Chestnut St. Franklin B. Jenkins 1895 Shingle Style 329 NR/C
118-106 4,932 31 Maple St. Charles A. Drew c1890s Queen Anne n/a C
118-105 4,337 33 Maple St. Charles H. Walker/garage c1890s Queen Anne n/a C/nc
118-104 7,728 35 Maple St. James B. Hawkins c1885 Queen Anne n/a C
118-103 10,070 37 Maple St. Charles A. Libby c1883 Queen Anné 367 C
118—102 8,368 39 Maple St. Henry C. Carbee ¢1890s Quecn Anne n/a C
118-101 13,642 41 Maple St. James P. Fairchild/garage ¢1885 Queen Anne 366 C/nc
118-100 11,887 43 Maple St. F. XK. Sweetser c1882 Queen Anne 365 C
118-99 7,872 45 Maple St. unknown cl915 Dutch Colonial n/a C
Total: 33 Contributing Buildings

17 Noncontributing Buildings
1 Contributing Structure
1 Contributing Object
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